SUPREME COURT FILED

DEC - 4 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

SUPREME COURT, STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,)	No: S219889
Plaintiff/Appellant,)	
v.)	RESPONDENT EMMANUEL JUAREZ'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS
EMMANUEL JUAREZ, et al.,)	WERT 13
Defendants/Respondents.)))	

AFTER OPINION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE CASE NOS. G049037, G049038

THE HONORABLE GREGG L. PRICKETT, JUDGE

LAW OFFICES OF JOHN F. SCHUCK John F. Schuck, #96111 885 N. San Antonio Road, Suite A Los Altos, CA 94022 (650) 383-5325 schuckappeal@hotmail.com Attorney for Respondent EMMANUEL JUAREZ By appointment of the Supreme Court

SUPREME COURT, STATE OF CALIFORNIA

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The issues for review stated in respondent Emmanuel Juarez's petition for review were:

- 1. Under Penal Code sec. 1387, based on the same set of underlying facts, may the prosecution, after two dismissals, continue to file charges against a defendant an unlimited number of times, as long as the subsequent filings are not for the same, exact statutory offense?
- 2. Should the term "same offense" as used in Penal Code section 1387 be given a narrow interpretation or a broad interpretation?

Co-respondent Gerardo Juarez stated these issues in a similar fashion:

Does Penal Code section 1387's prohibition on a third, successive felony prosecution for the "same offense" operate to bar a third prosecution of a defendant for precisely the same conduct at issue in two previously dismissed cases where no statutory exception applies, but where the prosecutor has elected to charge the exact same conduct under a different Penal Code section?

II. INTRODUCTION

On two occasions, the People filed attempted murder charges against respondents.

On two occasions those cases were terminated because the prosecution was not prepared.

Penal Code¹ section 1387 provides that two terminations such as occurred here constitutes a bar to any other prosecution for the "same offense." Thus, the trial court in this matter properly dismissed the third case filed against respondent, charging conspiracy to commit murder, which was based on the same conduct and incident as the first two cases.

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

The Court of Appeal in this case apparently agreed with the trial court's dismissal of the third case. However, based on this court's conclusion in *People v. Traylor* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1213, footnote 6 that "...an 'offense' is defined not by conduct, but by its particular definition as such in the Penal Code," the Court of Appeal felt constrained to reverse. It nevertheless stated that its decision was "...not in keeping with the policies section 1387 is supposed to represent." (Opn. p.10.)

In *Burris v. Superior Court* (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1012, 1018, this court stated that section 1387 "is hardly pellucid." This understated observation was repeated in *People v. Traylor, supra*, 46 Cal.4th at 1212. It now devolves upon this court to provide a clear, definitive definition of "same offense" for purposes of section 1387. This court's construction of that term should be guided by the salutary policies underlying section 1387 rather than a rigid, statute-bound definition of the term "same offense."

Typically, a court's "...role in interpreting or construing a statute is to ascertain and effectuate the legislative purpose." (Laurel Hgts. Imp. Assn. v. Regent of Univ. of Calif. (1993) 6 Cal.4th 1112, 1127.) Regarding the word "it" in section 1387, this court, in Burris, supra, stated that "...the legislative history behind the statute and its substantive provisions [do not] contain evidence the Legislature chose a particular construction in order to implement one rule or the other." (34 Cal.4th at 1018.) The same can readily be said for the term "same offense" as used in section 1387. As the Court of Appeal in the instant matter stated, "...this statutory formulation leaves much to be desired." (Opn. p.4.)

Thus, in construing this term, this court "...must consider the human problems the Legislature sought to address in adopting section 1387 -- "the ostensible objects to be achieved [and] the evils to be remedied." (Burris, supra, 34 Cal.4th at 1018.)

Section 1387 promotes a policy of basic fairness and the observation of fundamental constitutional rights. These are the "human problems" and "objects" with which section 1387 is concerned. As explained in *People v. Salcido* (2008) 166 Cal. App.4th 1303, 1309:

"Section 1387 implements a series of related public policies. It curtails prosecutorial harassment by placing limits in the number of times charges may be refiled. The statute also reduces the possibility that prosecutors might use the power to dismiss and refile to forum shop. Finally, the statute prevents the evasion of speedy trial rights through the repeated dismissal and refiling of the same charges." "The purpose of section 1387 is to prevent improper successive attempts to prosecute a defendant." (Citations omitted.)

Every case that has considered section 1387 has described it in much the same way.

The prosecution in this case contends that it can suffer repeated dismissals as a result of its failure to be prepared yet still refile against a defendant an unlimited number of times, as long as the new charge is not the same statutory offense pled in a twice-dismissed case. This argument wholly undermines the constitution-based public policy underlying section 1387. This contention sweeps aside the human problems and objects that section 1387 seeks to address. Indeed, the prosecution's argument effectively abrogates section 1387.

The trial court, in conformity with section 1387 and its salutary public policy, properly dismissed the third case the prosecution filed against respondent. But for this court's decision in *People v. Traylor, supra*, 46 Cal.4th 1205, the Court of Appeal would have affirmed the dismissal. *Traylor* therefore must be reconsidered in light of the purposes underlying section 1387. When this is done, it is clear that the prosecution's argument must be rejected.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 21, 2011, in case no. 11NF1767, an information was filed against Emmanuel Juarez and his brother, co-respondent Gerardo Juarez, charging them with, *inter alia*, violations of Penal Code section 664/187, subdivision (a) attempted murder (counts 1, 2). (1CT 90-92.)² All charges arose out of a single incident allegedly occurring on June 3, 2011. On July 16, 2012, the People dismissed the case. (1CT 15; 2CT 261.)

On July 16, 2012, in case no. 12NF0057, the People filed a felony complaint against respondents once again charging them with, *inter alia*, attempted murder. These charges arose out of the same alleged June 3, 2011 incident that formed the basis of the information in case no. 11NF1767. (1CT 94-98.) An information alleging the same attempted murders was filed on July 30, 2012. (1CT 99-102.) On December 10, 2012,

² "CT" refers to the Clerk's Transcript in case no. G049038. "RT" refers to the Reporter's Transcript in case no. G049038.

this case was dismissed because the prosecution was not prepared. (1CT 104-103; 2CT 133.)

On December 10, 2012, based on the same June 3, 2011 incident that formed the basis of the two previously dismissed informations, the prosecution for the third time filed charges against respondents (case no. 12CF3528). However, in an attempt to get around the two dismissal rule of section 1387, the prosecution charged respondents with conspiracy to commit murder, a violation of Penal Code section 182. (1CT 109-112; 2CT 250-253.) On December 13, 2012, respondent filed a motion to dismiss case no. 12CF3528 pursuant to section 1387. (1CT 14-112.) Co-respondent Gerardo joined. (1CT 113-114.) The prosecution filed opposition (2CT 260-264) and respondent filed a reply. (1CT 115-121.) On January 10, 2013, after a hearing on January 4, 2013 (2CT 274-298; RT 1-22), the motion was denied. (2CT 300.)

On February 7, 2013, respondent filed a petition for writ of mandate in the superior court seeking review of the denial of the section 1387 dismissal motion. (2CT 122-306.) On March 25, 2013, the prosecution filed an informal response. (2CT 307-311.) On April 3, 2013, respondent filed a reply. (2CT 312-315.) On June 6, 2013, the prosecution filed a return to the petition. (2CT 316-333.) On July 1, 2013, respondent filed a traverse. (2CT 334-348.) On July 19, 2013, a hearing was held on that petition. (2CT 304-305; RT 23-33.) On July 25, 2013, the petition was granted and case no. 12CF3538 was dismissed. (2CT 305-306; RT 34-36.)

On September 19, 2013, the prosecution timely filed a notice of appeal. (2CT 349-350.)

On June 30, 2014, the Court of Appeal reversed the judgment dismissing the case.

On September 10, 2014, review was granted.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS³

On June 3, 2011, at around 5:00 p.m., John Doe was driving a Toyota Camry in an alley behind their apartment complex. Jane Doe was in the front passenger seat. As they drove, their vehicle passed a Jeep Grand Cherokee. John Doe and respondent, the driver of the Jeep, stared at one another. Doe stopped and got out of his car. Respondent exited the Jeep. The two men went to the rear of the Toyota and had a brief conversation. Doe walked back to his car. As he was getting in, he said that he "did not mean to disrespect the other subject's son." Doe drove away. (2CT 181-184, 190, 193-194.)

John Doe and Jane Doe returned to their apartment and parked in the alley. At about 10:45 p.m., they exited the complex and walked into the alley where they saw respondent and Gerardo Juarez. Respondent supposedly punched John Doe in the face. When Doe said, "let's throw down," respondent gave a black plastic bag to Gerardo and the two men started fighting. Jane Doe thought there was a gun in the bag. Gerardo, who looked uncomfortable while holding the bag, said to respondent, "you'd better fucking get

³ The statement of facts is based on the preliminary examination testimony of two police officers. It is not based on the testimony of actual percipient witnesses.

him." (2CT 185-186, 190-191, 195-196.)

Jane Doe said that the two should not be fighting. Gerardo agreed. He took a gun out of the bag and handed it to respondent. Respondent purportedly shouted, "Long Beach Psychos" or "Long Beach Cyclones" and shot John Doe. (2CT 187, 196-197, 215.)

Jane Doe ran westbound through the alley to the front gate, which was locked.

Doe saw the Jeep approaching. Gerardo was walking alongside the Jeep. He said, "Open the gate, bitch." Respondent exited the Jeep and opened the gate. Jane Doe asked Gerardo not to shoot her. Gerardo said, "Fuck you, bitch," and shot her in the upper thigh. Jane Doe ran. (2RT 187-189, 197-199, 215.)

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE TERM "SAME OFFENSE" AS USED IN PENAL CODE SECTION 1387 MEANS ALL OFFENSES ARISING FROM THE SAME SET OF FACTS; THEREFORE, PURSUANT TO PENAL CODE SECTION 1387, THE SUPERIOR COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED THE THIRD FILING OF CHARGES AGAINST RESPONDENT. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S CONTRARY OPINION MUST BE REVERSED.

1. <u>Introduction</u>

Section 1387 provides that a second termination of an action bars a third prosecution for the same offense. "[S]ection 1387 is generally intended to protect against successive dismissals and refilings of accusatory pleadings....[S]ection 1387 'prevents the evasion of speedy trial rights through the repeated dismissal and refiling of the same

charges." (*Berardi v. Superior Court* (2008) 160 Cal.App.4th 210, 225.) "The purpose of section 1387 is to prevent the prosecution from harassing defendants with successive prosecutions." (*Dunn v. Superior Court* (1984) 159 Cal.App.3d 1110, 1119.) But, as noted, section 1387 is "hardly pellucid."

"[A] statute must be given a reasonable and practical construction" (Fortenberry v. Weber (1971) 18 Cal. App.3d 213, 222) and "should be interpreted to avoid an absurd result.'" (Giorgianni v. Crowley (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 1462, 1475.) "[L]egislation when not expressed in technical terms is addressed to the common run of men and is therefore to be understood according to the sense of the thing, as the ordinary man has a right to rely on ordinary words addressed to him." (Addison v. Holly Hill Fruit Products. *Inc.* (1944) 322 U.S. 607, 618 [64 S.Ct. 1215, 88 L.Ed.1488].) Where, as here, the legislative history fails to "reveal a clear meaning, [courts] 'apply reason, practicality, and common sense to the language at hand,' seeking to make the [statute] 'workable and reasonable..., in accord with common sense and justice, and to avoid an absurd result." (Kachlon v. Markowitz (2008) 168 Cal. App. 4th 316, 338-339.) Where, as here, "...uncertainty exists consideration should be given to the consequences that will flow from a particular interpretation." (Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Emp & Housing Com'n. (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1397, 1387.)

The only common sense, reasonable, and practical construction of section 1387, one that avoids the absurd result the prosecution seeks -- the prospect of virtually never-

ending refilings -- is that unless there has been excusable neglect (sec.1387.1), the prosecution may only twice file charges against a defendant based on the same underlying set of circumstances. Further, the prosecution's unlimited filing interpretation encourages slovenly practices and provides no incentive to the prosecution to prepare for trial a timely manner.

The Court of Appeal stated that "[t]he policy goals of section 1387...militate in favor of application of section 1387" in the instant case (Opn. p.6.) Thus, even if, arguendo, past authorities can be said to have considered "same offense" to be the same statutory offense, a reasonable and practical construction of the term, one that avoids the absurd result of unlimited refilings, is that "same offense" includes all related offenses arising out of the same incident.

2. "Same offense" must be construed to mean all related offenses and charges arising out of the same incident or set of circumstances.

The Sixth Amendment provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy...trial..." (Accord, *Doggett v. United States* (1992) 505 U.S. 647, 649, [112 S.Ct. 2686, 120 L.Ed.2d 520]; *Barker v. Wingo* (1972) 407 U.S. 514, 515, [92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 101] ["...a speedy trial is guaranteed the accused by the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution...is 'fundamental' and is imposed by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment on the States."]; *Klopfer v. North Carolina* (1967) 386 U.S. 213, 223 [87 S.Ct. 988, 18 L.Ed.2d 1].) The California Constitution,

article 1, section 15 provides the same fundamental right: "The defendant in a criminal cause has the right to a speedy... trial." (Accord, *People v. Roybal* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 481, 512-513.) "The speedy trial clause is designed to minimize interference with personal liberty prior to trial[,]...preserves the presumption of innocence, minimizes oppressive pre-trial incarceration, and limits the possibility that the defense is impaired." (*Cain v. Smith* (7th Cir.1982) 686 F.2d 374, 384; accord, *United States v. Loud Hawk* (1986) 474 U.S. 302, 312 [106 S.Ct. 648, 88 L.Ed.2d 640].)

Section 1387 provides that two terminations of "an action...is a bar to any other prosecution for the same offense." "The predominant purpose of section 1387 is to establish some limit to a defendant's period of potential criminal liability, thereby avoiding harassment and discouraging prosecutorial forum-shopping." (*Miller v. Superior Court* (2002) 101 Cal.App.4th 728, 740.) Courts have recognized that there is a limit to the number of times the prosecution can refile charges against a defendant. At first blush, section 1387 could be literally construed to mean that the prosecution, after suffering two terminations, could refile as many times as it liked as long as the new charge was not the same statutory offense. But, even the prosecution in this matter concedes that "same offense" has its limitations. The prosecution concedes that, even if the new charge is not the same statutory offense, it nevertheless cannot be refiled where it contains the same elements as the charge in the terminated action. As the prosecution stated, "...section 1387(a) precludes subsequent offenses that cannot be committed

without committing a previously dismissed offense." (Reply B., p.1.) Thus, all parties agree that "same offense" is not limited to only the same statutory offense.

The American Bar Association, through its standards for speedy trial (Standard 12-2.2(a), has addressed the issue of repeated refilings. The standards are "...intended to prevent the prosecution from rendering the defendant's right to a speedy trial meaningless by dismissing the case and refiling *charges that relate to essentially the same conduct...*" (A.B.A., Standards for Crim. Justice (3rd Ed. 2006), Speedy Trial and Timely Resolution of Criminal Cases, sec.12-22, p.47; italics added.) To allow the prosecution to suffer two dismissals yet continue to file an unlimited amount of cases against the defendant based on essentially the same conduct certainly would render meaningless the right to a speedy trial.⁴

In *People v. Woods* (1993) 12 Cal.App.4th 1139, 1148, the Court stated that the "general rule" of section 1387 is "that a twice-dismissed *action* cannot be refiled." (Italics added.) Several authorities have discussed section 1387 in terms of the dismissal of a felony action or felony charges rather than offenses. (See, e.g., *Miller v. Superior Court, supra*, 101 Cal.App.4th at 739, 747 [Section 1387 "sets forth what is sometimes referred to as the 'two-dismissal rule': Two dismissals of a felony action bars further

⁴ Although the rules and standards promulgated by the American Bar Association are not binding, this Court has said that referral thereto "may be 'helpful and persuasive in situations where the coverage of our Rules is unclear or inadequate." (*Frye v. Tenderloin Housing Clinic, Inc.* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 23, 52, 4n.12.)

prosecution, except in certain specified circumstances," and, "Section 1387 states two dismissals...bars retrial on felony charges."]; *People v. Superior Court (Quinteros)* (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 12, 17 ["Section 1387 does provide that a prosecution is barred if a felony charge has previously been twice dismissed."]; *Paredes v. Superior Court* (1999) 77 Cal. App.4th 24, 28 ["these statutes [secs.1382, 1384, 1387, 1387.2] mean that a felony case once dismissed for delay can be refiled but (subject to certain exceptions) a felony case twice dismissed for delay cannot. In short a third or subsequent prosecution is barred."]; C.E.B., Calif. Crim. Law, Proc. and Prac. (2014) "Motion to Set Aside Information or Indictment," sec.13.31, p.325 ["When a felony...has been dismissed twice..., those dismissals are a bar to any other prosecution...Pen.C. sec.1387."])

In *State v. Abrahamson* (Iowa 2008) 746 N.W.2d 270, conspiracy to manufacture methamphetamine charges were filed against the defendant. The charge was subsequently dismissed on speedy trial grounds which, under Iowa decisional law, was a bar to "...refiling of an 'information or indictment charging the same offense." (746 N.W.2d at 273.) Based on the same set of facts as the dismissed conspiracy charge, the prosecution refiled an information charging the defendant with manufacturing methamphetamine. The *Abrahamson* court rejected the "same elements" test proposed by the prosecution in the instant matter. It held that the refiling was improper because:

It would permit, if not encourage, the piecemeal prosecution of drug trafficking charges as a means of avoidance of the time-honored constraints of our speedy trial rule. For example, under the State's interpretation, the dismissal of the conspiracy charge as a penalty for violation of Abrahamson's right to a speedy trial would be of insubstantial consequence to the State because the manufacturing charge would stand in ready reserve to be charged as a separate offense. Such an interpretation would undermine the salutary purposes of the speedy trial rule. *See [State v.] Johnson,* [1974] 217 N.W.3d [609] at 612 (noting the remedy afforded by a dismissal with prejudice for violation of the speedy trial rule assures that the rule will not be rendered meaningless).

Under the logic of *Abrahamson*, permitting the prosecution to refile non-lesser included offense charges against a defendant an unlimited number of times -- or limited only by the prosecutor's creativity in finding arguably applicable statutes --would eviscerate and render meaningless the speedy trial-based provisions of section 1387.

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