IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,)	No. S219889	
) Plaintiff/Appellant,))	DCA No. G049037 (lead)	
vs.		
GERARDO JUAREZ et al.,	Consolidated with DCA Case: No. G049038	SUPREME COURT FILED
Defendants/Respondents.)) 	JAN 27 2015

CONSOLIDATED ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

FOLLOWING THE APPEAL FROM THE
SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE GREGG L. PRICKETT, JUDGE PRESIDING

TONY RACKAUCKAS, DISTRICT ATTORNEY
COUNTY OF ORANGE, STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DV. DRIAN E EITZBATRICK

BY: BRIAN F. FITZPATRICK DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

EMAIL: brian.fitzpatrick@da.ocgov.com

STATE BAR NO. 165480

POST OFFICE BOX 808

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

ARGUMENT

- A. THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY APPLIED THE
 "SAME ELEMENTS" TEST TO DETERMINE PENAL
 CODE SECTION 1387 DOES NOT BAR THE NEW
 CONSPIRACY CHARGES IN THIS CASE
 - 1. Section 1387's Plain Language Shows It Only Applies
 Where The Successive Charges Allege The "Same
 Offense"

"When interpreting statutes, [the Court] begin[s] with the plain, commonsense meaning of the language used by the Legislature. [Citation.]" (Voices of the Wetlands v. State Water Resources Control Bd. (2011) 52 Cal.4th 499, 519.)

[I]t is well-settled that [the Court] must look first to the words of the statute, "because they generally provide the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." [Citation.]

(Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc. (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094, 1103.) "If the statutory language is clear and unambiguous [the Court's] inquiry ends.' [Citation.]" (In re D.B. (2014) 58 Cal.4th 941, 945-946.) In other words, "[i]f there is no ambiguity in the language, [the Court must] presume the Legislature meant what it said and the plain meaning of the statute governs. [Citations.]" (People v. Snook (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1210, 1215.)

Penal Code section 1387, subdivision (a) (section 1387(a)) limits the number of times a defendant may be charged with a criminal "offense." (Pen. Code, § 1387, subd. (a)³.) It generally precludes prosecution for the "same offense" if it is a felony and it has been twice dismissed. (Pen. Code, § 1387, subd. (a).)

The Legislature meant what it said when it narrowly limited section 1387(a) to successive prosecutions for "the same offense." As this Court notes, although section 1387(a) has been amended numerous times and is "hardly pellucid," one thing is clear from section 1387(a)'s language, "it applies only to successive prosecutions 'for the same offense." (*People v. Traylor* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1212, citation omitted.)⁴

As we discuss below, conspiracy to commit murder is not the "same offense" as attempted murder under section 1387(a). Therefore, section 1387(a) does not apply to the conspiracy to commit murder charges in this case.

³ All further code references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

⁴ Defendant Gerardo notes this Court's comment that section 1387(a) is "hardly pellucid," but fails to include the Court's subsequent determination that section 1387(a) is clearly limited to successive prosecutions for the "same offense." (Def. Gerardo's brief at p. 9.)

2. This Court Applies The "Same Elements" Test To Determine Whether Successive Charges Are For The "Same Offense" Under Section 1387

In *Traylor*, this Court defined when two offenses are the "same offense" under section 1387(a).

[S]uccessive prosecutions are "for the same offense," and are thus governed by section 1387, where "the identical criminal act ... underlies" each of the prosecutions.

(People v. Traylor, supra, 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1212, citing Burris v. Superior Court (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1012, 1016, fn. 3, omission in original.) Accordingly, ""[w]hen two crimes have the same elements, they are the same offense for purposes of ... section 1387." (People v. Traylor, supra, 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1212, italics and omission in original, quoting Burris v. Superior Court, supra, 34 Cal.4th 1012, 1016-1017, fn. 3.)

The Court then applied the "same elements" test to the situation in *Traylor*. There, the prosecutor filed a lesser included misdemeanor offense of vehicular manslaughter after a charge of felony vehicular manslaughter with gross negligence was dismissed. (*People v. Traylor, supra,* 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1208.) The Court noted the felony and misdemeanor charges, although very closely related, "did not include the identical elements." (*Ibid.*) The felony offense requires proof that a grossly negligent act caused the traffic death, while the misdemeanor offense does not require such proof. (*Id.* at p. 1213.)

Thus, they were not the "same offense" under section 1387(a). (*People v. Traylor, supra*, 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1212-1213.)

The successive charges in our case – attempted murder and conspiracy to commit murder – are less related than the charges in *Traylor*. Neither is a lesser-included or greater offense of the other. They have substantially different elements and punish substantially different criminal acts. "Criminal conspiracy is an offense distinct from the actual commission of a criminal offense that is the object of the conspiracy. [Citations.]" (*People v. Morante* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 403, 416, fn. omitted.) Conspiracy is an inchoate crime that

"[F]ixes the point of legal intervention at [the time of] agreement to commit a crime,' and 'thus reaches further back into the preparatory conduct than attempt[.]' [Citation.]"

(*Id.* at p. 417, second modification in original.) Conspiracy to commit murder requires an agreement to commit murder and an overt act by one or more of the parties in furtherance of the agreement. (*Id.* at p. 416; Pen. Code, § 182, subd. (a)(1).) The overt act need not be criminal and can merely be a preparatory act. (*People v. Gilbert* (1938) 26 Cal.App.2d 1, 23.)

In contrast, attempted murder does not require any agreement. It "requires the specific intent to kill and the commission of a direct but ineffectual act toward accomplishing the intended killing. [Citations.]" (*People v. Lee* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 613, 623.) The direct but ineffectual act must be an act beyond mere preparation. (*People v. Superior Court (Decker)* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 1, 8.)

Conspiracy to commit murder and attempted murder are two separate and distinct offenses. The Court of Appeal correctly determined section 1387(a) does not apply to the conspiracy to commit murder offenses in this case.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT REPLACE THE "SAME ELEMENTS" TEST WITH DEFENDANTS' "FACT-BASED" TEST

Defendants do not argue conspiracy to commit murder is the "same offense" as attempted murder under the "same elements" test. Instead, they attack the test. They want this Court to disapprove of the "same elements" test used in *Traylor*, and discussed in *Burris*, and adopt defendants' "fact-based" test.

Defendants, however, do not agree on their versions of their tests. Defendant Emmanuel argues "same offense" should be rewritten to mean "all related charges arising out of the same set of circumstances underlying the two dismissed cases." (Def. Emmanuel's brief at p. 14.) Defendant Gerardo argues "same offense" should mean charges that have the same "essence." (Def. Gerardo's brief at p. 7.) He does not define "essence," but states that charges should be considered the "same offense" when the "exact same facts and intent are required to prove" them. (Def. Gerardo's brief at p. 7.)

This Court should reject defendants' "fact-based" tests.

1. This Court And The Court Of Appeal Have Already Rejected "Fact-Based" Tests

As discussed above, in *Traylor*, the Court examined the "elements" of the successive charges, not the alleged facts of the case, to determine whether the charges were the "same offense" under section 1387(a). Nothing in the Court's discussion supports defendants' plea for a broader "fact-based" test. On the contrary, the Court specifically rejected the defendant's claim that "section 1387(a) should apply to all charges arising from the *same conduct or behavior* of the defendant" (*People v. Traylor, supra,* 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1213, fn. 6, original emphasis.) The Court found that "the statutory language belies such a necessarily broad construction." (*Ibid.*)

Instead.

[O]ne crime is the "same offense" as another when it involves the "identical *criminal* act" as represented by the criminal *elements* necessary for a conviction. [Citation.]

(People v. Traylor, supra, 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1213, fn. 6.)

In *People v. Meza* (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 362, the Court of Appeal independently came to the same conclusion. In *Meza*, the defendant stole a victim's car and collided with a police car after driving approximately one mile. (*Id.* at p. 364.) The defendant's blood alcohol level was over the legal limit. (*Ibid.*) The defendant was charged with robbery and Vehicle Code section 10851, but the charges were dismissed because the "victim had not been personally served." (*Ibid.*) The People refiled the same two charges. (*Ibid.*) The second case was dismissed because the People failed to timely bring the defendant to trial under section 1381. (*Ibid.*) The People then filed a felony complaint charging two counts of driving under the influence of alcohol and causing injury. (*Ibid.*) The trial court dismissed the charges under section 1387(a) because

[T]he driving under the influence of alcohol and causing bodily injury offenses were transactionally related to the [previously dismissed robbery and vehicle-taking offenses]

(*Id.* at pp. 364-365.)

The Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's decision, which was based upon the facts of the case. (*People v. Meza, supra*, 231 Cal.App.3d 362, 365-366.) The Court of Appeal instead looked to the elements of the successive charges finding that the driving under the influence charges "could have been committed without engaging in the conduct alleged in the twice dismissed robbery and 'Vehicle Code section 10851' offenses." (*People v. Meza, supra*, 231 Cal.App.3d 362, 365.) Thus,

Neither driving under the influence charge was "the same offense" within the meaning of Penal Code section 1387 as either of the twice dismissed charges.

(People v. Meza, supra, 231 Cal.App.3d 362, 365.)

The same is true in our case. Conspiracy to commit murder can be committed without committing attempted murder. They are not the "same offense." This is consistent with *Traylor*. Misdemeanor vehicular manslaughter can be committed without committing felony vehicular manslaughter with gross negligence. Thus, under both *Traylor* and *Meza*, section 1387(a) does not apply to the conspiracy to commit murder charges in our case.

2. <u>Defendants' "Fact-Based" Test Disregards Section</u> 1387(a)'s Plain Language And Would Swallow The Rule

Defendants want this Court to rewrite section 1387(a) disregarding the Legislature's plain language. The Court should refuse.

Where the terms of a statute are plain and not absurd, a court may not presume a drafting error and thereby substitute its judgment for the Legislature's. [Citation.] To do so would contravene [the Court's] constitutional role, tread into the domain of a coequal branch, and inject intolerable uncertainty into the drafting and lawmaking process, since neither the Legislature nor the public could rely on a court to follow plain statutory language.

(Joshua D. v. Superior Court (2007) 157 Cal. App. 4th 549, 558.)

Defendants' "fact-based" test disregards section 1387(a)'s narrow application and would swallow the rule. For example, in our reply brief to the Court of Appeal, we asked the court to consider the hypothetical situation where both defendants in our case had methamphetamine in their pockets during the commission of the attacks and, instead of charging conspiracy to commit murder in the present prosecution, the People charged possession of a controlled substance in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11377. We asked if defendants would argue the drug-offense prosecution was barred under section 1387(a).

Defendant Emmanuel answers this question in the affirmative. He confirms that, under the "fact-based" test, the possession of methamphetamine charge would be the "same offense" under section 1387(a) as the attempted murder charges. Defendants' position makes no sense. Possession of methamphetamine is not the "same offense" as attempted murder. Defendants' "fact-based" test would rewrite the limiting language in section 1387(a).

Defendant Emmanuel cites *Kellett v. Superior Court* (1966) 63 Cal.2d 822 and claims section 1387(a) should apply to all offenses arising from the facts known to the prosecution. His citation to *Kellett* is misplaced and undermines his position. *Kellett* interpreted section 654, not section 1387(a). (*Id.* at p. 824.) The Legislature used different language in section 654. That section applies to prosecutions "for the same act or omission," while section 1387(a) applies to prosecutions "for the same offense." (Pen. Code, §§ 654, subdivision (a), 1387, subdivision (a).)

Defendants' "fact-based" test would equate section 1387(a) and section 654 even though the Legislature used significantly different language. This would contravene the settled principle that

When the Legislature uses materially different language in statutory provisions addressing the same subject or related subjects, the normal inference is that the Legislature intended a difference in meaning. [Citation.]

(*People v. Trevino* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 237, 242.) It would also contravene *Traylor*. There, this Court concluded that the contrasting language between sections 1387(a) and 654 demonstrates the Legislature's intent to provide distinct and narrower coverage under section 1387(a). (*People v. Traylor, supra,* 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1213, fn. 6.)⁵

Defendant Emmanuel also cites section 1387(a)'s policies. He claims precluding the possession of methamphetamine charge would "serve" section 1387(a)'s policies of preventing harassment and delay. His argument proves too much. Barring every successive prosecution would "serve" to prevent harassment and delay. Yet, in contrast to section 654, the Legislature narrowly limited section 1387(a) to successive prosecutions "for the same offense." (Pen. Code, § 1387, subd. (a).) This demonstrates the flaw in defendants' policy-driven position. It is error to use the policies to define when offenses are the "same offense" under section 1387(a).

⁵ We discuss the differences between sections 1387(a) and 654 more fully in Section C, below.

⁶ We discuss the flaws in defendants' policy-driven claims more fully in Section C, below.

Defendants' "fact-based" test is at odds with the result in *Traylor*. The lesser-included misdemeanor vehicular manslaughter charge was a "related" charge "arising out of the same set of circumstances" as the dismissed felony vehicular manslaughter charge. Both charges were based upon the same set of facts, i.e., the defendant's collision with the nine-year-old motorcycle rider. (*People v. Traylor, supra,* 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1209-1211.) The only issue was whether the evidence showed gross negligence or ordinary negligence. (*Id.* at pp. 1209-1212.) Thus under defendants' "fact-based" test, the successive charges in *Traylor* would be the "same offense."

The limiting language in *Traylor* does not help defendants in our case. In a footnote, the Court stated its holding was limited to the situation where a magistrate dismisses a felony charge indicating the evidence supports a lesser included misdemeanor and the People file that lesser included misdemeanor charge. (*People v. Traylor, supra,* 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1220, fn. 10.) The Court further indicated it was not addressing how section 1387(a) would apply where the prosecution filed a "lesser-included offense" in contravention of a magistrate's prior determination or when dismissed felonies are followed by

⁷ The same would be true under defendant Gerardo's "fact-based" test because the successive charges in *Traylor* involved the same victim, intent and action by the defendant.

lesser-included felonies or a dismissed misdemeanor is followed by a lesser-included misdemeanor. (*People v. Traylor, supra*, 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1220, fns. 9 and 10.)

None of the situations contemplated in *Traylor* is present in our case. Conspiracy to commit murder and attempted murder are neither greater nor lesser-included offenses of the other. They are separate and distinct offenses. Moreover, nothing about the new prosecution for conspiracy to commit murder in our case was done in contravention of a magistrate's prior determination. The only magistrate to hear the evidence presented in our case held both defendants to answer on both attempted murder charges and defendants waived preliminary hearing in the second case.

In any event, nothing about the Court's discussion in *Traylor* suggests the Court would abandon the "same elements" test under section 1387(a) – particularly in our case where the successive prosecutions do not involve lesser-included or greater offenses. On the contrary, as discussed above, the Court reaffirmed the "same elements" test and rejected the defendant's argument that "section 1387(a) should apply to all charges arising from the same conduct or behavior of the defendant[.]" (*People v. Traylor, supra*, 46 Cal.4th 1205, 1213, fn. 6, emphasis in original.)

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